1980

State of Utah v. Cecil Earl Brooks and James Charles Edward Good : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from convictions of Aggravated Assault in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt County, State of Utah, the Honorable Peter F. Leary, Judge presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

In a jury trial conducted before the Honorable Peter F. Leary of the Third Judicial District Court, appellants were found guilty of two counts of Aggravated Assault, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-5-102, 103 and §76-2-202 (1953 as amended), and sentenced to an indeterminate term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek a reversal of the conviction and judgments

rendered below and a remand of the case to the Third Judicial District for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The alleged crime in the instant case took place in the "hobo jungle". The participants, four transient hobo-types, were camped at Roper Yards on the property of Denver and Rio Grande Railroad (T.4). The four had recently joined to ride the rails together, and were enroute to Grand Junction, Colorado. (PH 17, 18) From there, Donald Storie and Richard Vinson, (referred to as "Rico" in the record) were headed to Wyoming and eventually to Montana to work on a ranch. (PH 7,17,66,90,115) Cecil Brooks and Jim Good were traveling east and would probably wind up in Michigan. (T.334)

On April 23, 1979, Vinson, Brooks, and Good left the camp at an early hour to go downtown and give plasma for money. (PH 19, 89) Storie remained in camp alone until late afternoon when the three returned with food, wine, and tobacco. (PH 19,22) Storie cooked up a meal over a fire and the group passed around the jugs of wine. (PH 21,33,58) Later on, an argument developed concerning money, and the four decided to split up. (PH 22,25)

At preliminary hearing Donald Storie testified that while the four were traveling together they had agreed to pool their money. (PH 9) But a dispute developed over \$14.00 which Storie said he saw Good stick down his boot. (PH 24) Good said that he lost the money, and Storie didn't believe him. (PH 24) As a result of the disagreement, the men decided to split up. Brooks and Good left the campsite, but returned later in the evening while Storie was making coffee and Vinson was asleep. (E

Storie testified that Brooks came at him with a knife, said "I didn't steal the \$14.00", and then stabbed him in the chest. (PH 10) Storie claimed that as he struggled with Brooks, Jim Good hit him with an ax handle. (PH 11) He was knocked unconscious and fell down in a swampy area. (PH 12) When he came to, he observed Brooks and Good standing over Vinson, who was lying on the ground. Good said, "that son-of-a-bitch down there [referring to Storie] is dead. . . if you're going to kill him, hurry up and kill him." Brooks responded, "well, I don't want to kill him, I just want to make him remember." (PH 12) Storie blacked out again, and when he came to, he crawled up to Vinson and saw that he was "bleeding real bad." (PH 13) He then made his way to the trainmaster's shack to get help. (PH 13)

Richard Vinson also testified at preliminary hearing, although his memory of the events was somewhat foggy. He testified that after the four ate dinner and drank wine, he fell asleep. He didn't recall any dispute over \$14.00 (PH 98) nor did he know of Good putting money down his boot. (PH 105, 118) Moreover, he was unaware that the other men had decided to "split". (PH 100) He remembered waking up when it was dark and seeing a man standing over him. (PH 99, 106). He said he was hit suddenly before he could rise up, and then he was unconscious. (PH 108)

Both men were medically treated for the injuries they sustained. (T. 20203, 214) Storie had a stab wound in his left breast, lacerations on both thumbs, a fractured left thumb, two lacerations on his scalp and lacerations on his left wrist and

forearm. (T. 2-215) Rico suffered two blunt lacerations on his forehead, one black eye, a laceration on his left arm, and a laceration of the neck. (T.203-204)

At trial the preliminary hearing transcript (the testimony of Donald Storie and Richard Vinson) formed the basis of the State's case. The balance consisted of the testimony of several police officers, the custodians of the court recordings, and employees of the Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad. Both Cecil Brooks and James Good took the stand in their defense. (T.2-297,338)

Brooks' testimony regarding the day's events was for the most part the same as Storie's. However, he mentioned that Good didn't eat any dinner, because he and Storie "had had words about the food". (T.307) He remembered Storie and Good arguing about the \$14.00 (T.309), and heard Vinson tell Good to get out of camp. Brooks retorted, "If Jim goes I'm going with him." (T.309) When Good attempted to take the tobacco, Storie told him "he wasn't taking a damn thing." (T.309) Storie then came at Brooks with a knife, and turned toward Good. (T.310) Meanwhile, Vinson, who was several feet from Brooks, came down a small slope toward him. Brooks testified that since Vinson had told him that he'd done fifteen years for killing someone with a knife he (Brooks) was "scared like hell." (T.311) He added that he had no reason to doubt Vinson because he had scars all over him from knife fights. Brooks and Vinson scuffled until Good pulled Vinson off and said "let's get out of here." The two walked down by the railroad tracks and encountered Scott Broussard, an investigator for the railroad.

They asked him when the next train was leaving, and he told them to get out of the railroad yards. (T.2-53) The two men then walked north toward the viaduct, and later turned to walk back toward the "flashing lights". They were arrested as they were walking back toward camp. (T.320) Brooks sustained a cut in the palm of the left hand. (T.314)

Good's testimony revealed that on the way downtown Vinson ran into a man whom he had previously fought with. The man had a scar on his face where Vinson claimed to have hit him with a hammer. (T.342) Back in camp and drunk (T.351), Good argued with Storie about peeling potatoes too thick and wasting food. (T.348) Storie responded with "If you would take the \$14.00 out of your boot, we would have more food." Vinson then told Good he could "get the hell out of camp", and Good responded, "Suits me". (T.350) When Good attempted to take the tobacco, Storie objected and came up with a knife. Good grabbed an ax handle and took two swings at Storie. (T.354) When Storie staggered back and fell in the swamp, Good turned and hit Vinson with the club to get him off of Brooks. (T.355) Brooks and Good walked up the path toward the railroad yards, and were later arrested as they headed back toward the flashing lights near camp. (T.357)

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DENIED DEFENDANTS THEIR
RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION BY ALLOWING THE
STATE TO INTRODUCE THE CRUCIAL PART OF
THEIR CASE-IN-CHIEF VIA A PRELIMINARY
HEARING TAPE.

At trial, and over appellant's strenuous objection, the State was allowed to introduce the taped preliminary hearing testimony of Donald Storie and Richard Vinson. The State was therefore able to introduce, not only the major part, but the critical part, of their substantive evidence through a tape recording machine. Appellants contend that the introduction of this evidence denied them their constitutional right to confront their accusers in open trial, as guaranteed by the Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 12. That section provides:

[I]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to be confronted by the witnesses against him.

The United States Constitution provides the same protection within the contours of the Sixth Amendment. In illuminating the scope of that protection, the United States Supreme Court, while paying homage to the long valued right of confrontation, has recognized that it may be dispensed with under some circumstances. One of these circumstances concerns the use of preliminary hearing testimony at a criminal trial.

Most recently in the case of Ohio v. Roberts, ___ U.S. (40 CCH S.Ct. B3665, June 25, 1980), the Supreme Court expanded the State's freedom to introduce preliminary hearing testimony at trial where the witness is unavailable. There the defendant was charged with forgery and possession of stolen credit cards in the name of Bernard Isaacs. The Isaacs' daughter, Anita, was questioned by defense counsel at preliminary hearing concerning her interaction with the defendant. She testified that she had permitted him to use her apartment for several days while she was away, but denied giving him use of checks and credit cards belonging to her parents. Counsel did not ask the court to declare Anita a hostile witness, nor did the prosecutor question her. At trial, newly appointed defense counsel objected to the use of the preliminary hearing transcript on the basis that it violated the defendant's right to confrontation. The Court held that there was no constitutional violation where Anita was unavailable to testify at trial, and the preliminary hearing transcript bore sufficient "indicia of reliability" to afford the "trier of fact a satisfactory basis for evaluating the truth of [the] prior statement," citing California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149 (1970). Thus, because the prior statement was made under oath, and defense counsel was not "significantly limited in any way in the scope or nature of his cross-examination," 399 U.S. at 166, the transcript was admissible at the subsequent trial.

Notwithstanding the disposition of the issue in the

this court can and must afford them greater protection than the Roberts decision. It is well recognized that a state is free to construe its own constitution more narrowly than the federal constitution, even though the provisions involved are similar. See, Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 714 (1975). The right to confront one's accusers in open trial is a cherished and vital right. It envisions

A personal examination and cross-examination of the witness in which the accused has an opportunity, not only of testing the recollection and sifting the conscience of the witness, but of compelling him to stand face to face with the jury in order that they may look at him, and judge by his demeanor upon the stand and the manner in which he gives his testimony whether he is worthy of belief. Mattox v. United States, 156 U.S. 237, 242-3 (1895).

Utah has recognized, since the early case of State v. Mannion, 57 P.2d 542 (1899), that these rights are essential to a fair trial. This Court must therefore take notice of the manner in which these rights have been sacrificed in the instant case, and re-examine the policy and spirit behind Utah's confrontation clause.

Other states have recently tackled the issue, and have resolved the dilemma in favor of the defendant. In People v. Smith, 597 P.2d 204 (1979), the Supreme Court of Colorado considered the question of whether a transcript of preliminary hearing testimony should be admissible at a subsequent trial. The defendant in Smith was initially the subject of a civil suit brought by Carmack Motors to recover possession of a tractor. Smith and John Burnett

testified at trial that they were together at Carmack Motors on a certain date, and Smith made a cash payment for the tractor. The controversy was resolved against Smith and he was subsequently charged with perjury, conspiracy to commit perjury, and tampering with a witness. Burnite testified at Smith's preliminary hearing; only this time he recanted his earlier testimony. Under oath, he admitted that he had agreed to go along with Smith's story because of Smith's poor luck, inability to make a living, and concern that a prior felony conviction might undermine his credibility. Burnite died prior to trial, and a transcript of his testimony was admitted into evidence at Smith's trial, over the latter's objection. On appeal, the State Supreme Court held that in view of the limited scope of a preliminary hearing, the State Constitution precluded the admission of a preliminary hearing transcript at a subsequent trial, even though the witness was clearly unavailable.

The Colorado court acknowledged the general admissibility of recorded testimony taken at a prior judicial proceeding where the witness has become unavailable and the right of cross-examination has been exercised. The court observed that "transcripts from a previous trial provide no basis for objection since the defendant presumably has received the full panoply of procedural and substantive protections." Id. at 207. But where the prior judicial proceeding is a preliminary hearing, the court was convinced that critical differences

come into play. A preliminary hearing, the court noted,

is limited to a determination of probable cause and in effect functions as a screening device. Furthermore, evidentiary and procedural rules are relaxed, and the credibility of witnesses is generally not explored (cf Utah Code Ann. §77-15-19 (1953 as amended)). As a result counsel does not have the same motive to cross-examine at preliminary hearing as he does at trial. To illustrate, the court pointed to the transcript; counsel did not cross-examine regarding the prejudicial statement that Smith was afraid a prior felony conviction would undermine his credibility, and counsel did not explore Burnite's credibility even though the issue was ripe since he was recanting previous testimony.

The above considerations, then, led the Colorado Court to conclude that a preliminary hearing is too limited in scope to allow testimony recorded at it to be introduced at a subsequent trial, regardless of the availability of the witness. New Jersey has also modified its rule to reflect an appreciation for the differences between evidence given at a preliminary hearing and evidence given at a trial. In State v. Moody, 404 A.2d 370 (1978), the court construed its rule of evidence providing for the admission of testimony given at a prior hearing where the witness is unavailable to include only testimony given at a prior trial. The court noted that the legislature intended to exclude testimony given at a preliminary hearing for the reason that cross-examination in such proceedings is either nonexistent or inadequate.

Other courts, while not as a matter of law excluding preliminary hearing testimony, recognize the importance of exercising caution in admitting such evidence. In Poe v. Turner, 353 F. Supp. 672 (1972), the court held that an unavailable witness' recorded testimony from a prior trial was admissible in the defendant's second trial. The court observed that the defendant was unable to point to any deficiencies in the confrontation or cross-examination of the witnesses at the first trial. The court went on, however, to distinguish the nature of cross-examination in the context of a preliminary hearing:

Nor can petitioner point to any reasons counsel might have had on that occasion for exercising restraint in the conduct of the cross-examination, as petitioner perhaps could do had the testimony in question been offered at a preliminary hearing. At a preliminary hearing, where the standard to be met by the prosecution is probable cause, rather than guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, a vigorous defense is less important and might serve only to harden and preserve the prosecution's case. Id at 677.

Similar considerations were discussed in People v. Gibbs, 63 Cal. Rptr. 471 (1967). There the court held that an informer's transcribed testimony taken at preliminary hearing was inadmissible at defendant's trial due to inadequate cross-examination. The court suggested that several qualitative factors play a role in determining whether cross-examination at a prior proceeding has been adequate. Those factors are the nature of the proceeding, the character of the witness

of his direct testimony, and the time and preparatory opportunities available to the accused and his attorney. The court elaborated on the significance of the nature of the proceeding:

[T]he preliminary examination is conducted as a rather perfunctory uncontested proceeding with only one likely denouement - an order holding the defendant for trial. Only television lawyers customarily demolish the prosecution in the magistrate's court. The prosecution need show only "probable cause," a burden vastly lighter than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Committing magistrates usually accept the prosecution evidence at face value, leaving credibility judgments for the trial of guilt. The tactical influences pervading the process tend to induce shallow cross-examination. Limited cross-examination at the preliminary hearing is a frequent tactic of adept and skilled defense lawyers. Cross-examination may lack width and depth, not because counsel lacks opportunity, but because he chooses to defer his real effort until the trial itself. The choice creates no defense disadvantage if the prosecution witness testifies at the trial. He is then available for painstaking and incisive cross-examination. If the witness disappears and his transcribed testimony is read to the jury, the opportunity for cross-examination disappears with him. [T]hat situation . . . exposes the defense to grave tactical damage. [Citations and footnotes omitted] Id. at 475

In the instant case, appellants asserted a number of arguments in support of their motion to exclude the preliminary hearing tapes. Consistent with discussion in the above - cited cases, defense counsel argued that a preliminary hearing in Utah is ordinarily a much less searching exploration into the merits of the case than a trial because the burden of proof is probable cause as opposed to reasonable doubt. (T.M. 57-58) Counsel contended that trial tactics

are different at a preliminary hearing, and so may change the nature of the questions asked and the witnesses called.

Moreover, at the time of preliminary hearing defense counsel was ignorant of several statements made to police officers since that information was unavailable under Utah's discovery rules. (T.M. 70) Counsel argued that the lack of this sort of information severely curtailed their ability to impeach the witnesses by confronting them with their prior statements. Support for the exclusion of the tapes on this basis alone is found in the case law. In People v. Garcia, 382 N.E. 2d 316, (1978) the court admitted a witness' preliminary hearing testimony at trial. Defendant contended that this was a denial of his right to confrontation since the preliminary hearing occurred before he was permitted discovery. On appeal, the court held the evidence admissible and observed that a defendant is not denied adequate cross-examination if further cross-examination would be of no benefit to him. Since the defendant was unable to show that cross-examination of the witness at the preliminary hearing would have been enhanced by material made available through discovery, he was denied relief on appeal.

Appellants contend that in the present case availability of prior inconsistent statements made by Vinson and Storie would have enabled them to impeach their credibility and substantially weaken the State's case.

Additionally, where witnesses are unavailable to testify at trial, the trier of fact is deprived of any opportunity to observe

demeanor and evaluate credibility. An absent witness can't be confronted with prior inconsistent statements made at the preliminary hearing, nor can his "sweating brow" or "twitching cheek" be observed. (T.M. 70). If a defendant's right to confrontation is to have any substance, it must be accompanied by a convergent right to impeach the confronted witness. Prior recorded testimony should be excluded where that right has not been fully exercised. In People v. Reed, 414 N.Y. S. 2d 89 (1979), the court did exclude a preliminary hearing transcript where defense counsel was unaware of the chronic alcoholism of the witness at the time of preliminary hearing, and hence, did not go into the credibility of the witness or his accuracy of recollection.

Similarly, in the instant case, counsel did not explore the victims' history of alcohol abuse or propensity for violent behavior. Defense counsel was unable to use such information to either buttress the defendants' claim of self-defense or impair the credibility of the victims' recollection of the alleged crime. Appellants submit that in this case credibility of the State's witnesses was critical to a conviction. The victims and defendants had traveled together for several weeks and were ostensibly "friends". A disagreement and split occurred, and two versions of the evening's events emerged. The State's failure to provide any observable witnesses to present the victims' version precluded the jury from pursuing its task with any

made when only half the "picture" is viewed. It was essential that the jury physically observe the stature and demeanor of all four participants, hear all possible defenses, and weigh the evidence accordingly. For the State's failure to provide the jury with this opportunity, appellants submit that they were denied not only their constitutional right to confrontation, but their right to a fair trial.

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