1979

State of Utah v. Cecil Earl Brooks and James Charles Edward Good : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION OF WITNESSES
GUARANTEED BY THE CONSTITUTIONS OF UTAH
AND THE UNITED STATES WAS NOT VIOLATED
BY THE ADMISSION AT TRIAL OF THE PRELIM-
INARY HEARING TAPES.

The fundamental issue in this case is whether appellants were denied their "right to confront the witnesses against [them]" as guaranteed by Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution and by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, by the admission at trial of the victims' tape-recorded preliminary hearing testimony. In other words, does the exception to the Hearsay Rule provided in Rule 63(3)(b)(ii), Utah Rules of Evidence, allowing the prior recorded testimony of an unavailable witness to be admitted as substantive evidence at a subsequent trial necessarily violate constitutional confrontation rights? Respondent submits that the answer must be in the negative based on the standards articulated by this Court and the

United States Supreme Court.

The recent case of Ohio v. Roberts, ___ U.S. ___, 100 S.Ct. 2531 (1980), reiterates the two-step analysis necessary to determine the acceptability of prior testimony evidence in relation to confrontation considerations. First, the witness must be unavailable; second, the testimony must have been recorded under circumstances manifesting sufficient indicia of reliability.

A

THE PROSECUTION MET ITS BURDEN OF
DEMONSTRATING THE UNAVAILABILITY OF
THE WITNESSES.

The threshold requirement for admitting at trial prior recorded testimony is that the party seeking to introduce that testimony has the burden of establishing the unavailability of the witness whose declarations are sought to be admitted. Rule 63(3)(b), Utah Rules of Evidence

In Roberts, the Court stated:

The basic litmus of Sixth Amendment unavailability is established: "[A] witness is not 'unavailable' for purposes of the . . . exception to the confrontation requirement unless the prosecutorial authorities have made a good-faith effort to obtain his presence at trial." Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. at 724-725, 88 S.Ct., at 1322 (emphasis added). . . [citations omitted].

Although it might be said that the Court's prior cases provide no further refinement of this statement of the rule, certain general propositions safely emerge. The law does not require the doing of a futile act. Thus, if no possibility of procuring the witness exists (as, for example, the witness' intervening death), "good faith" demands nothing of the prosecution. But if there is a possibility, albeit remote, that affirmative measures might produce the declarant, the obligation of good faith may demand their effectuation. "The lengths to which the prosecution must go to produce a witness. . . is a question of reasonableness." California v. Green, 399 U.S., at 189, n. 22, 90 S.Ct., at 1951 (concurring opinion, citing Barber v. Page, supra). The ultimate question is whether the witness is unavailable despite good-faith efforts undertaken prior to trial to locate and present that witness.

100 S.Ct. at 2543 (emphasis in original).

The Court noted that the extent of the prosecution's efforts in that case included only talking to the witness' mother and issuing five subpoenas to the mother's address, knowing that the witness was not there. The Court then stated:

Given these facts, the prosecution did not breach its duty of good-faith effort. To be sure, the prosecutor might have tried to locate by telephone the San Francisco social worker with whom Mrs. Isaacs had spoken many months before and might have undertaken other steps in an effort to find Anita. One, in hindsight, may always think of other things. Nevertheless, the great improbability that such efforts would have resulted in locating the witness, and would have led to her production at trial, neutralizes any intimation that a concept of reasonableness required their execution.

The Court went on to compare the factual situation in Roberts with the prior cases of Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719 (1968), and Mancusi v. State, 408 U.S. 204 (1972). In Barber, a witness was held not to be unavailable when he was incarcerated in a federal prison and procedures existed to secure the witness' presence at trial.

In Mancusi, the unavailable witness had returned to his Swedish homeland. The Court held that he was indeed unavailable because, even though his whereabouts were known, no procedures existed to compel his attendance at the second trial.

The Roberts Court then concluded that where the witness' "whereabouts were not known and there was no assurance that she would be found in a place from which she could be forced to return. . .the prosecution carried its burden of demonstrating that [the witness] was constitutionally unavailable for. . .trial." 100 S.Ct. at 2544-45.

This Court in State v. Oniskor, 29 Utah 2d 395, 510 P.2d 929 (1973), recognized that the burden on the State was to show "it had made a good-faith effort to secure the attendance of the witness and had been unsuccessful." 510 P.2d at 931. Rule 62(7)(e), Utah Rules of Evidence, defines "unavailable as a witness" to include situations where the witness is "absent from the place of hearing because the proponent of his statement does not know and with diligence

been unable to ascertain his whereabouts."

In Gallegos v. Turner, Utah, 526 P.2d 1128 (1974), the admission at the second trial of an unavailable witness' prior testimony was upheld. In defining the extent of the State's good-faith due-diligence burden, this Court rejected any mechanical application of a prescribed set of steps to be taken in attempting to locate witnesses:

It is true that many and various things might be done in attempting to locate a witness. Neither those listed in [Poe v. Turner, 353 F.Supp. 672 (D. Utah 1972)] nor, we assume, any other case, would be all inclusive or exclusive. The requirement is simply that the trial court be persuaded that the party (the State) has acted in good faith and with reasonable diligence and is unable to locate and bring the witness to the trial. The rule of review is comparable to that in most situations wherein it is the prerogative of the trial judge to make the determination. That is: he is allowed considerable latitude of discretion; and that his ruling will not be reversed in the absence of a showing of clear abuse thereof.

526 P.2d at 1129-30 (footnote omitted).

Poe v. Turner, 353 F.Supp. 672 (D. Utah 1972), was a habeas proceeding concerned with the efforts of the State to locate missing witnesses. The witnesses in that case were not transients, had former residence addresses and previous places of employment. They apparently possessed driver's licenses and owned vehicles registered in their names. Further,

the witness' relatives were all contacted to no avail. There were also reports that one of the witnesses may have been living in Chicago or New York, and that another may have been working for the City of Las Vegas and later, for a railroad company in the Midwest. Significantly, none of those reports were followed up by the State. In concluding that the State had made a good faith effort to locate the witnesses, the court stated that those reports were not indications of sufficient substance as to be included within the necessary purview of a good-faith search. . . . It was not necessary for the state to follow every single lead to its ultimate end.

353 F.Supp. at 676.

In the case at bar, the trial court was satisfied that the State had made a good faith effort to locate the witnesses (R.361). As noted in Gallegos v. Turner, supra, the trial court's determination of unavailability will be upheld absent a showing of clear abuse of discretion. Appellants cite numerous cases purporting to demonstrate that on the facts here, the trial court abused that discretion. Respondent submits that all of those cases are distinguishable.

Appellants liken the present case to Fresneda v. State of Alaska, 483 P.2d 1011 (1971). However, in that case, the missing witness had definitely joined the Army and like in Barber v. Page, supra, official procedures existed to locate

and return the missing witness. 483 P.2d at 1018, fn. 26. Further, the lack of diligence was held to be harmless error where other evidence was sufficient to uphold the conviction.

Appellants also cite People v. Horn, 36 Cal.Rptr. 903 (1964), to show the importance of the time lapse between knowledge of a witness' absence and the start of the search to locate him. The court did indeed recognize that the time lapse was important, but then pointed out that that was only one factor to be considered. The prior cooperation of the witnesses was also a factor to consider.

Similarly in the present case, both the witnesses had indicated their intention to stay and Vinson had promised to notify Detective Foster of any change of address. Respondent suggests that it was not unreasonable to assume that either or both witnesses would return for the trial based not only on their prior statements, but also on the apparent easy availability of support and lodging from Assistance Payments and St. Mary's Home.

People v. Starr, 89 Mich.App. 342, 280 N.W.2d 519 (1979), is cited by appellants as requiring that all specific leads and reasonable alternatives be pursued. The missing witness in that case was a potential co-defendant and a local resident. Further, as appellants recognize, there were other individuals present at the incident and the local police were well acquainted with the participants.

Respondent would agree that had other participants been available in the present case and had any local officials had familiarity with the witness' movements, those leads should have been checked out. Indeed, all other witnesses to any of the events on the night of the assault were produced at trial. Further, all possible leads to the witnesses' whereabouts were checked out up to and including the beginning of trial.

The "most specific lead. . .not checked out by the prosecutor" in People v. McIntosh, 389 Mich. 82, 204 N.W.2d 135 (1973), which appellants cite, was the distinct possibility that the unavailable witness was in a North Carolina prison whose authorities were never contacted by the prosecution. Suffice to say no such specific lead existed in the present case.

. Appellants cite State v. Greer, 27 Ariz.App. 197, 552 P.2d 1212 (1976), to suggest that the prosecutor in the instant case was negligent in failing to supervise the efforts to locate the missing witnesses. In the Greer case, there was a six month lag between knowing of the witness' unavailability and the beginning of trial. During that six month period no effort at all was made to locate the witness, including no checks with his employer, his mother or his sister-in-law. Further, no attempt was

made to check any forwarding address from his address at the time of the preliminary hearing. The court favorably cited Poe v. Turner, supra, for examples of the sorts of things that could be done to demonstrate good-faith attempts to locate a missing witness.

The case of People v. Rogers, 79 Ill.App.3d 745, 398 N.E.2d 1058 (1979), is inappropriately cited by appellants. In that case, the missing witness was one of the co-defendants who had testified at the preliminary hearing on behalf of herself and the other defendants as to possible justification for the robbery. The remaining defendants attempted to introduce this absent defendant's testimony at trial. The defense made eight or ten phone calls, had indeed contacted the witness-defendant two or three times and was still unable to offer an explanation for her absence. Respondent agrees that had any telephone contact been made with the witnesses here, or anyone who had a reasonable idea as to their location, the State would have had to do more. However, no contacts of that sort were made or ignored.

Appellants place heavy emphasis on the fact that no subpoena to Donald Storie was ever issued. They do not suggest, however, where this subpoena could have been served. The lack of importance of a worthless subpoena was recently

discussed in People v. Forgason, 99 Cal.App.3d 361, 160 Cal.Rptr. 263 (1979). There, the State was challenging the good faith effort of the defense to secure unavailable witnesses. Although, as the court noted, the burden to show good faith is considerably heavier on the prosecution than on the defense, the value of a subpoena issued for a known-to-be-unavailable witness is equally worthless:

[L]ittle, if any, importance will be placed upon the pro forma act of delivering a subpoena "in a timely fashion to the sheriff for service upon the missing witness," when the party is unable to suggest a place where he may be served. . . And "'no good could be accomplished by requiring that an officer. . . make a pretense of looking for the witness in a number of places where he could not reasonably be expected to be found. . . .'"

[A]n "idle" and "pro forma" requirement . . . accomplished "'no good'" and is manifestly unreasonable.

160 Cal.Rptr. at 266-267 (citations omitted).

Appellants next assert that the State "had reason to know that Vinson and Storie had no intention of remaining in Salt Lake for any extended time, especially since neither had sought employment." (App. Brief. at 27). On the contrary, as already demonstrated, the State did have reasonable expectations that the witnesses would remain for the trial. Their failure to obtain employment would seem more reasonably explainable on the basis of the seriousness of the wounds inflicted by the appellants than on any preconceived plans to leave town.

Flores v. People, Colo., 593 P.2d 316 (1978), cited by appellants, is initially distinguishable from the instant case on the basis that there it was indeed likely, four months before trial, that the witness would be dead or incapacitated by the time of trial. Further, as will be discussed below in Part B of Point I, a preliminary hearing in Colorado may not offer sufficient indicia of reliability to justify admission of that testimony at trial, and therefore a deposition may be the only appropriate way to preserve testimony in that jurisdiction.

That preliminary hearing testimony in Utah is sufficiently reliable generally, and clearly was in this case, will be demonstrated below in Part B. Suffice to say here that the testimony of the witnesses was adequately preserved via the preliminary hearing tapes.

Appellants question the lack of requiring bonds or surety deposits from these witnesses pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 77-15-25 and 26 (repealed), in force at the time. Respondent suggests that the committing magistrate, along with the State, had reasonable expectations that the witnesses would appear for trial. Thus, there was insufficient reason to require a bond in this case.

Finally, appellants cite People v. Enriquez, 137 Cal.Rptr. 171, 561 P.2d 261 (1977), to suggest, once

more, the allegation that the State did not make a good faith effort to locate the missing witnesses. In that case, the State offered no testimony on the issue of due diligence, and the defense offered testimony from the witness' mother to the effect that she could have located the witness but the prosecution made little, if any, attempt to elicit the information from her. The Court characterized the prosecution's efforts as one of "casual indifference."

Respondent submits that instead of "casual indifference" and the refusal to check reasonable leads, the State's efforts in the present case more nearly resemble the efforts made by the prosecution in State v. Anderson, 42 Or.App. 29, 599 P.2d 1225 (1979), cited favorably by appellants (App. Brief at 28). The witnesses in that case, like Vinson and Storie and unlike the witness in Enriquez, were truly transient and had no relations and few friends on the scene. (Indeed, Vinson and Storie could fairly be said to have had no contacts at all in the area, except for the appellants themselves.) The efforts made to locate those witnesses in Anderson included only checking their last known addresses, making a futile call to Los Angeles based on a sketchy report that they had gone someplace in that area, and in the case of one of the witnesses,

talking with friends who had not seen him for a few months.

As the Court put it:

The itinerant lifestyle of these witnesses made it much more difficult to track them down because they left few tracks. They maintained no permanent employment, had no permanent residence in the area and left no forwarding address.

599 P.2d at 1228.

Respondent submits that not only have appellants failed to show that Judge Leary committed a clear abuse of discretion in finding that the State made a good-faith due-diligence effort to locate the missing witnesses, but that any reasonable reading of the facts inexorably leads to the conclusion that Vinson and Storie were constitutionally "unavailable" at the time of trial.

B

THE PRELIMINARY HEARING TESTIMONY
WAS OBTAINED UNDER CIRCUMSTANCES
BEARING SUFFICIENT INDICIA OF
RELIABILITY TO BE ADMISSIBLE AT
TRIAL.

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